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: No. MD 2018
Rachel L. Levine, MD, Secretary, :
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NOTICE TO DEFEND

You have been sued in court. If you wish to defend against the claims set
forth in the following pages, you must take action within twenty (20) days after this
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set forth against you. You are warned that if you fail to do so the case may proceed
without you and a Judgment may be entered against you by the Court without further
notice for any money claimed in the Petition or for any other claim or relief requested
by the Petitioner. You may lose money or property or other rights important to you.

YOU SHOULD TAKE THIS PAPER TO YOUR LAWYER AT ONCE. IF
YOU DO NOT HAVE A LAWYER OR CANNOT AFFORD ONE, GO TO OR
TELEPHONE ONE OF THE OFFICES SET FORTH BELOW TO FIND OUT
WHERE YOU CAN GET LEGAL HELP.

IF YOU CANNOT AFFORD TO HIRE A LAWYER, THIS OFFICE MAY
BE ABLE TO PROVIDE YOU WITH INFORMATION ABOUT AGENCIES
THAT MAY OFFER LEGAL SERVICES TO ELIGIBLE PERSONS AT A
REDUCED FEE OR NO FEE.

Dauphin County Lawyer Referral Service,
Dauphin County Bar Association
213 North Front Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Phone: 717-232-7536



IN THE COMMONWEALTH COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

Medical Marijuana Advocates for
Research

Petitioner,
V. : No. MD 2018

Rachel L. Levine, MD, Secretary,
Pennsylvania Department of Health,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW IN THE NATURE
OF A COMPLAINT IN EQUITY
SEEKING DECLARATORY RELIEF AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

Petitioner seeks pre-enforcement review consisting of a declaratory judgment
and injunctive (preliminary and permanent) relief regarding the Department of
Health’s (DOH) August 18, 2018 temporary regulations at 28 Pa. Code §§ 1211.21-
1211.37, 48 Pa.B. 5027, (Revised Chapter 20 Regulations) purporting to implement
the Clinical Registrant provisions contained in recently-amended Chapter 20
(Chapter 20) of the Medical Marijuana Act, 35 P.S §§ 10231.2001-2003 (Act or
Medical Marijuana Act), as amended, P.L. 322, No. 43, June 22, 2018 (Act 43).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND SUMMARY OF CLAIMS

1. Petitioner, an association of Pennsylvania’s medical marijuana permit

holders (grower/processors, dispensaries, and entities that are both) and other



industry stakeholders dedicated to promoting responsible medical marijuana
research, seek a preliminary and permanent injunction, and declaratory relief, to
once again prevent DOH from implementing regulations that: (a) unlawfully
delegate to the non-governmental medical schools associated with acute care
hospitals, known as Academic Clinical Research Centers (ACRCs), DOH’s duty to
vet and select the most qualified “super permittee” Clinical Registrants (CRs) that
will be authorized to commercially grow and dispense medical marijuana and
engage in research with ACRCs; and (b) ignore the General Assembly’s intent to
promote “high quality research.” 35 P.S § 10231.102(3)(iii), by watering down the
commitment to research required of CRs. A true and correct copy of DOH’s Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations is appended hereto as Exhibit A.

2. By opinion and order entered May 22, 2018 in AES Compassionate
Care, LLC et al. v. Levine, No. 233 M.D. 233 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2018) (McCullough, J.)
(unreported) (Levine I), appended hereto as Exhibit B, this court preliminarily
enjoined DOH’s first attempt to implement the CR provisions of Chapter 20 of the
Act (Original Chapter 20 Regulations), in part because (a) those Original Chapter 20
Regulations unlawfully delegated to ACRCs the vetting and selection of the most
qualified entities to be CRs, see Levine I, Exhibit B at 38-40; and (b) those Original
Chapter 20 Regulations required “only a minimal commitment to research to obtain

and retain a permit” see Levine I, Exhibit B at 33-34, thwarting the legislature’s



“intent to implement a robust research program” for medical marijuana. Levine |,
Exhibit B at 49. The Court in Levine I also based its grant of a preliminary injunction
on its conclusion that whereas Chapter 20 of the Act prohibited CRs from engaging
in “commercial distribution” of medical marijuana in competition with petitioners
AES et al. and other commercial medical marijuana permittees that hold permits
issued under Chapter 6 of the Act, DOH’s Original Chapter 20 Regulations
permitted CRs to sell medical marijuana in competition with Chapter 6 permittees.
Levine I, Exhibit B at 34, 49.

3. On June 22, 2018 the General Assembly amended Chapter 20 of the
Act to provide, inter alia, that CRs would not be prohibited from engaging in
“commercial distribution” of medical marijuana in competition with Petitioner’s
members and other Chapter 6 permittees. 35 P.S § 10231.2002 (b)(8)-(10). A copy
of Act 43 of 2018 amending Chapter 20 of the Act is appended hereto as Exhibit C.
On July 28, 2018, DOH rescinded its Original Chapter 20 Regulations that were the
subject of the preliminary injunction in Levine I, and thereafter promulgated its
Revised Chapter 20 Regulations that are the subject of this petition for review.

4. Although Act 43 of 2018 “cured” the error in DOH’s Original Chapter
20 Regulations that permitted CRs, in addition to performing research with ACRCs,
to sell medical marijuana in competition with Chapter 6 permittees (by expressly

permitting CRs to engage in such commercial competition), Act 43 made no changes



that “cured” either (a) the delegation problem or (b) the “minimal commitment to
research” problem for which the Court in Levine I preliminarily enjoined the
Original Chapter 20 Regulations.

5.  Asdescribed in more detail below, the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations
continue to suffer from (a) the identical delegation problem and (b) the identical
“minimal commitment to research” problem that were bases for Levine I's
preliminary injunction halting implementation of the Original Chapter 20
Regulations relating to CRs. Accordingly, Petitioner respectfully requests that
DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations relating to CRs be declared unlawful and
be preliminarily and permanently enjoined.

6. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations represent (a) an abdication of
its duty to devise a CR selection process that produces the most qualified
grower/processors and dispensaries to work in tandem with the hospital and medical
school-based ACRCs to engage in much-needed medical marijuana research, and
(b) a failure to track the Act’s clear requirement that a focus on research is paramount
for permittees that seek to engage as CRs in the Chapter 20 research program.

7. Absent a preliminary and permanent injunction preventing DOH from
proceeding to confer CR status on the 8 privately-selected entities proffered by the
8 ACRCs, DOH will approve as CRs grower/ processors and dispensaries that are

unqualified, or far less qualified, than Petitioner’s members and others that would



seek CR status but for the closed process created by DOH’s Revised Chapter 20
Regulations.

8. It is crucial that the unconstitutional delegation to ACRCs of selecting
CRs is addressed and resolved before DOH grants CR permits, and CR permittees
build out their facilities and commence operations. ACRC applications already have
been approved.! Applications for CR approval (which require proof of a contract
with an ACRC) were made available on October 4, 2018 and were submitted to DOH
as of November 8, 2018.2 48 Pa. B. 5423 (August 25, 2018). A true and correct
copy of DOH’s ACRC/CR application deadline notice is appended as Exhibit D.

9. Under these circumstances, this court’s pre-enforcement intervention to
enjoin DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations as they relate to CRs is warranted,
as Petitioner’s members have no other remedy that is adequate.> If the Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations are not enjoined before CR applications are granted later

this year or early next year, CRs will build out their facilities, and the damage will

! See https.//www.media.pa.gov/Pages/Health-Details.aspx Tnewsid=532; 48
Pa. B. 6629 (October 13, 2018).

2 Petitioner notes that Office of Medical Marijuana Director John Collins
testified in Levine I that once CR applications are submitted, it will take the Office
“a considerable amount of time” to review the CR applications. See Exhibit B, at
44,

3 The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations that relate to CRs, and that Petitioner
asks the court to declare invalid and enjoin, are 28 Pa. Code §§ 1211.27, 1211.28,
1211.30, 1211.31, 1211. 32, and 1211.34.
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be done. “Where the effect of the challenged regulations upon the industry regulated
is direct and immediate, the hardship thus presented suffices to establish the
justiciability of the challenge in advance of enforcement.” Arsenal Coal Co. v. Dep’t
of Env. Res., 477 A.2d 1333, 1339 (Pa. 1984).

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

10.  This court has original jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 42 Pa.
C.S. § 761(a)(1) which provides that this court “shall have original jurisdiction of all
civil actions and proceedings . . . [a]gainst the Commonwealth government . . . .”

11.  Petitioner seeks a declaratory judgment that DOH’s Revised Chapter
20 Regulations, as they relate to CRs: (a) create an unlawful delegation of
government authority to a private entity in violation of the Pennsylvania
Constitution; and (b) fail to implement the General Assembly’s intent that Chapter
20 foster a high-quality research program. The Declaratory Judgments Act, 42 Pa.
C.S. §§ 7531-7541, is available to Petitioner to settle and afford relief from the
uncertainty and insecurity with respect to Petitioner’s rights, status and legal
relations engendered by DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations.

12.  Petitioner also seeks to preliminarily and permanently enjoin
enforcement of DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations and this court has the power

to do so pursuant to 42 Pa. C.S. § 761(a)(1).



PETITIONER

13.  Petitioner Medical Marijuana Advocates for Research (MMAR) is a
501(c)(6) organization incorporated as a Pennsylvania non-profit whose 10
members seek to promote, protect and preserve cannabinoid research.

14.  Most MMAR members already hold Pennsylvania medical marijuana
permits.

15. MMAR permittee members obtained their permits through an intensely
competitive process in which approximately 90 percent of applicants were found
unworthy of the grant of a permit. Under the procedures for selection of
grower/processor permittees under Chapter 6 of the Act, 35 P.S. §§ 10231.601-616,
DOH awarded 12 grower/processor permits out of 177 applicants in Phase I (June
20017), and awarded the remaining 13 grower/processor permittees out of 91
applicants in Phase II (August 2018). Similarly, for dispensary permittees, DOH
awarded 27 out of 280 applicants in Phase I (June 2017), and will award the
remaining 23 permits from a pool of 167 applicants (pending).

16. MMAR permittee members collectively have expended hundreds of
millions of dollars in application and start-up costs.

17.  MMAR and its members have a direct, immediate and substantial
interest in (a) having the opportunity to apply to obtain CR status on a level playing

field administered by DOH rather than by ACRCs; (b) assuring that the would-be



CRs already selected by ACRCs that presently lack the necessary grower/processor
and/or dispensary permits (several of whom were denied the permits DOH awarded
Petitioner’s members because of poor quality proposals) are held to the same high
DOH standards that MMAR’s members were held in obtaining their permits; and (c)
assuring that CRs are required to engage in robust research at all of the six dispensary
locations allowed by a CR “super-permit,” rather than the minimal commitment to
research now tolerated under DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations.

18. Each of MMAR’s members would seek CR status but-for DOH’s
Revised Chapter 20 Regulations which require a CR applicant to have a contract
with an ACRC as a pre-condition to applying for CR status.

19. For example, MMAR members Keystone Center of Integrative
Wellness, a Phase I medical marijuana dispensary permit holder, and Parea
BioSciences, LLC, a Phase II grower/processor permit holder, are sister companies
that together already have the necessary permits to achieve CR status, and would
seek CR status, but-for the DOH requirement that a CR applicant have a contract
with an ACRC as a pre-condition to applying for CR status.

20. Similarly, MMAR member Chamounix Ventures, LLC, a Phase I
medical marijuana dispensary permit holder, would also seek CR status but-for the
DOH requirement that a CR applicant have a contract with an ACRC as a pre-

condition to applying for CR status.



RESPONDENT
21.  Respondent Rachel L. Levine, MD, is the Secretary of the Pennsylvania
Department of Health, the executive agency that promulgated the Revised Chapter
20 Regulations, and that has the duty and authority to administer and enforce the
Medical Marijuana Act and the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A.  The Act Requires DOH to Promote High Quality Research

22.  The Act became law on April 17, 2016, effective May 17, 2016.

23.  Chapter 20 of the Act was amended on June 22, 2018 and became
effective that same day.

24. A central legislative goal in enacting the Medical Marijuana Act was to
“[pJromote high quality research into the effectiveness and utility of medical
marijuana.” 35 P.S §§ 10231.102(3)(iii).

25.  The Act attempts to promote medical marijuana clinical research in two
ways:

a. through research studies involving patients with serious medical
conditions upon authorization by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
and Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA) in response to a DOH
application, to be conducted by health care medical marijuana organizations

(i.e., vertically integrated Pennsylvania health systems as defined in the



Health Care Facilities Act approved by DOH to grow and process medical
marijuana for research purposes) as described in detail in Chapter 19, 35 P.S
§810231.1901-1908; and

b. through partnerships between ACRCs at Pennsylvania medical
school teaching hospitals and CRs, clinical research-focused entities that hold

a medical marijuana grower/processor permit and a dispensary permit and that

are willing to invest in capital-intensive research. Chapter 20 of the Act, 35

P.S §§10231.2001-2003.

26. However, the hoped-for research through patient studies conducted by
vertically integrated health systems that produce their own medical marijuana under
Chapter 19 has not come to fruition and is not likely to do so for the foreseeable
future. Marijuana remains an illegal Schedule I drug under the federal Controlled
Substances Act, and vertically integrated health systems, which rely heavily on
federal Medicaid and Medicare reimbursement and other federal funding, have
indicated they will not jeopardize that funding by engaging in activity (the growing,
processing and dispensing of marijuana) that is unlawful under federal law. See
Levine I, Exhibit B at 6.

27. Therefore, the remaining formal statutory opportunity to fulfill the

General Assembly’s goal to “[p]Jromote high quality research into the effectiveness
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and utility of medical marijuana” falls to Chapter 20 ACRCs and the CRs that supply
them with medical marijuana for clinical trial purposes.

28.  Act43’s June 22, 2018 amendment to Chapter 20 further reinforces this
goal by stating the intention of Chapter 20 is to create a “mechanism whereby the
Commonwealth’s medical schools and hospitals can help develop research programs
and schools.” 35 P.S. § 10231.2000(a)(2).

29. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations thus take on greater
significance because Chapter 20 is now the sole vehicle for the Act’s research goals
and it is critical that DOH craft regulations that carry out the Act’s intent to promote
robust research.

B. Chapter 20 as amended

30. Under the title “Academic Clinical Research Centers and Clinical
Registrants,” Chapter 20 of the Act, as amended, provides for an ACRC to contract
with a CR to “provide advice” to the CR regarding patient safety and to gain access
to medical marijuana for research and clinical trials conducted jointly by the ACRC
and the CR. 35 P.S §§ 10231.2001-2004.

31. Section 2001 expressly provides that a CR is an entity that (a) “is
approved by [DOH] to hold a permit as both a grower/processor and a dispensary”,
(b) “has a contractual relationship™ with an ACRC, and (c) is approved by DOH as

a CR.
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32.  Section 2002 authorizes a CR to: (i) “provide medical marijuana at not
more than six separate locations”; (ii) sell its medical marijuana products to the CR’s
dispensaries; (iit) sell or exchange its seeds, plants, or products with Chapter 6
grower/processors; (iv) petition DOH to sell its medical marijuana products to
Chapter 6 dispensaries upon a showing that the products “have a practical effect on
patients which changes a recommendation within the medical field”; and (v)
dispense medical marijuana products to any authorized patient or caregiver
possessing a valid medical marijuana card.

33. Chapter 20, even as amended by Act 43 to permit CRs to make
commercial sales of medical marijuana, remains designed primarily to enable an
entity approved as a CR to grow and dispense medical marijuana for ACRC-
sponsored clinical trials and research. 35 P.S §§ 10231.2001-2003; see, House
Appropriations Committee Fiscal Note for House Bill No. 2477 (June 19, 2018)
(legislation that became Act 43 amending Chapter 20) at 1 (“House Bill 2477 ...
amends Chapter 20 of the Medical Marijuana Act to clarify the clinical research
component in the Act.”)*; see also, House Appropriations Committee Fiscal Note
for Senate Bill No. 3 of 2015 (April 13, 2016) (enacted as the Medical Marijuana

Act) at 6 (identifying the purpose of Chapter 20: “[a] clinical registrant is an entity

4 http://www.legis.state.pa.us/WUOQ1/LI/BI/FN/2017/0/HB2477P3804.pdf
(emphasis added).
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registered as a grower/processor and a dispensary that has a contractual relationship
with a hospital/medical school. The clinical registrant, upon approval of DOH,
may dispense medical marijuana to the hospital/medical school in order to
conduct research projects. Under the amendment, the department may register up
to eight clinical registrants. Each clinical registrant may provide medical marijuana
at no more than six separate dispensary locations. The clinical registrant must have
at least $15 million in capital.”).3

34.  Nothing in Chapter 20 as amended by Act 43 requires a CR applicant
to have an executed contract with an ACRC as a prerequisite to applying for CR
status.

C. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations

35. The legislature allowed DOH to issue the Revised Chapter 20
Regulations as “temporary,” 35 P.S § 10231.2004, added by Act 43 of 2018.

36. DOH did so, and, consequently, the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations

were promulgated without the safeguards, scrutiny, and opportunity for public input

3 https://www.legis.state.pa.us/WUOQ1/LI/BI/FN/2015/0/SB0003P1690.pdf
(emphasis added); see also, Folmer, Medical Cannabis and Research, October 31,
2017 (“Hopefully, implementation of Chapter 20 and the establishment of up to eight
clinical registrants will be next. To me, ensuring proper implementation of Chapter
20 requires everyone to remain focused on the goal, namely: RESEARCH!")
available at http://www.senatorfolmer.com/2017/10/3 I /medical-cannabis-research/.
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provided by the Commonwealth Documents Law, the Regulatory Review Act and
the Commonwealth Attorneys Act.

37. An agency’s regulations must be consistent with the statute under
which they were promulgated. Northwestern Youth Services, Inc. v. Dept. of Public
Welfare, 66 A. 3d 301 (Pa. 2013).

38. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations lack fidelity to the Act in two
critical ways, each of which the court in Levine I found fatal, and neither of which
DOH corrected in revising its Original Chapter 20 Regulations and issuing its
Revised Chapter 20 Regulations: (a) they unlawfully delegate DOH’s duty to vet
and select the eight CRs to the 8 ACRCs; and (b) they abdicate DOH’s responsibility
to create an ACRC/CR program that demands *high quality research.” 35 P.S §
10231.102 (3) (iii).

Unlawful delegation

39. The deadline for applying for approval as an ACRC under DOH'’s
Revised Chapter 20 Regulations was September 20, 2018. 48 Pa. B. 5423 (August
25, 2018). All 8 of Pennsylvania’s accredited medical school/teaching hospitals
submitted applications, and all were approved and certified as eligible to enter into
a contract with a CR the next day, on September 21, 2018.

https.//www.media.pa.gov/Pages/Health-Details.aspx 7newsid=532. See 48 Pa. B.

6629 (October 13, 2018).

14



40. The approved ACRCs are: Perelman School of Medicine at the
University of Pennsylvania (Penn); Sidney Kimmel Medical College at Thomas
Jefferson University (Jefferson); University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine
(UPMC); Penn State College of Medicine (Penn State); Lake Erie College of
Osteopathic Medicine (LECOM); Lewis Katz School of Medicine at Temple
University (Temple); Drexel University College of Medicine (Drexel); and, The
Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine (PCOM). 48 Pa. B. 6629 (October
13, 2018).

41.  Although the Act prohibits an ACRC from contracting with a CR until
the ACRC is approved and certified by DOH, 35 P.S § 10231.2001.1, DOH’s
Revised Chapter 20 Regulations required each ACRC to identify its pre-selected
intended CR in its ACRC application. 28 Pa. Code § 1211.25 (c)(3).

42. The Act provides that DOH may approve up to 8 CRs. 35 P.S § 10231.
2002(a). The deadline for applying for approval as a CR under DOH’s Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations was November 8, 2018. 48 Pa. B. 5423 (August 25, 2018).

43. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations require that a CR applicant
include with its application an executed contract with the ACRC with which it has
agreed to partner. 28 Pa. Code § 1211.27(b)(7)(i).

44. By requiring a CR applicant to demonstrate that it has a contract with

an ACRC as a prerequistte to filing a CR application, 28 Pa. Code § 1211.27(b)(2)
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and (b)(7)(i), DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations again improperly allow each
ACRC to select the single entity that may lawfully apply to be that ACRC’s CR, and
thus effectively preordain the issuance of grower/processor and dispensary permits
to the CR applicant chosen by the ACRC, by narrowing to a single applicant the
“pool” of potential CRs for each ACRC, and leaving DOH with the fait accompli of
approving the ACRC’s choice and issuing a grower/processor permit and a
dispensary permit to the single prospective CR privately pre-selected by the ACRC,
or denying the CR’s application. As the court in Levine I held on identical facts, this
“creates the appearance that the Department has delegated its duty to regulate the
medical marijuana program” to the ACRCs. Exhibit B at 39-40.

45. Indeed, it is DOH’s duty to vet permit applications and select the most
qualified recipients of grower/processor and dispensary permits. DOH’s Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations thus turn the agency’s CR process into an after the fact
rubber stamp, which most assuredly is not the permit issuing process envisioned by
the General Assembly in Chapter 20 of the Act.

46. This insertion of the ACRC into the CR approval process creates an
acknowledged “pay to play” concern that DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations
vainly attempt to inoculate against through a prohibition on the ACRC’s receipt of
kickbacks from the CR or its affiliates, and the requirement of affidavits from each

detailing the amounts paid. The pay to play “prohibition,” however, is but a
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“Potemkin Village,” where the regulations permit the ACRC, upon *“discovery” of a
“pay to play” scheme, to simply refund the CR’s unlawful payment, allegedly curing
the violation. 28 Pa. Code §§ 1211.34 (prohibition); 1211.27(b)(4) (CR affidavit
requirement); 1211.25(c)(3) (ACRC affidavit requirement); 1211.30(c) (ACRC
refund).b

47.  On information and belief, only two ACRCs used even a limited RFP
process to solicit potential CR candidates. The abandonment of normal RFP
processes by the universities and hospitals and reports such as that in Exhibit E
supports the inference, if not a conclusion, that pay for play is a reality.’

48. On information and belief, many if not all the CR applicants had
agreements in principle with the medical school/teaching hospital that ultimately
chose them to be that ACRC’s CR as of late 2016 or early 2017, long before DOH
even reviewed or selected for Chapter 6 permits the 25 best grower/processors and
the 50 best dispensaries from many hundreds of applicants.

49.  The concern that DOH’s process fails to produce the best-qualified CRs

is not speculation. On information and belief, several ACRCs have already

6 Petitioner is not alone in its concerns about pay to play. See Philly.com (June
22, 2018) “He gave a $125K gift to Jefferson, expecting it would help get a
marijuana growing license. Was it pay-to-play?”, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

7 Of course, even if all the ACRCs had utilized an RFP process, that would not
cure the unlawful delegation problem with the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations.
DOH’s duty to select permittees is not something it may delegate.
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contracted with several would-be CRs that were unsuccessful in DOH’s highly

competitive application process for grower/processor and dispensary permits:

a.

Curaleaf, successor in interest to Palliatech, an unsuccessful
medical marijuana grower/processor permit applicant in DOH’s
Phase I that placed 105th out of 177 applications, has been
selected by Penn as that ACRC’s CR;}

MLH Explorations, Inc., Jefferson’s chosen CR, applied for a
grower/processor permit in Phase II and was denied, placing 26™
out of 71 scored applications?,

Columbia Care Pennsylvania LLC, UPMC'’s chosen CR, applied
for a grower/processor permit in Phase I and was denied; and
Elemental Health Group, LLC, Penn State’s chosen CR, applied
for a grower/processor permit in Phase I and likewise was

denied.

50. Curaleaf (Palliatech)’s circumstances offer a window into the core

problem with DOH’s unlawful delegation to ACRCs and the “rubber stamp” effect

8 http://www2.philly.com/phill y/business/cannabis/marijuana-company-

curaleaf-valued-at-4-5-billion-on-monday-has-big-plans-with-penn-med-for-king-

of-prussia-palliatech-20181030.html. The court already expressed concern about

that choice in Levine I, Exhibit B at 40 n. 23.

9 MLH sought to intervene in Levine I based on its self-proclaimed status as a

“prospective” CR.
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of allowing only a single CR applicant compete for that status. In a Canadian
Securities Exchange Listing Statement issued October 26, 2018, Curaleaf’s parent
company, Curaleaf Holdings. Inc., provided potential investors with a description of
its rosy Pennsylvania prospects, confidently explaining that “[t]hough it is not
currently licensed” in Pennsylvania, it “has partnered with an accredited medical
school” to obtain a clinical registrant license, that “[o]nly a private operator that has
entered into a research contract with certain in-state medical schools is eligible to
receive a clinical registrant license,” that licenses are expected to be issued in the
Fall of 2018, and that Curaleaf “anticipates that it will be operational in Pennsylvania
in Q1 2019.” Curaleaf Holdings, Inc. CSE Form 2A Listing Statement dated October
26, 2018 at 120, a copy of which is appended hereto as Exhibit F.

51. Curaleaf’s investor disclosure is, unfortunately, appropriately confident
— there is every reason to believe that under the “no competition” CR paradigm DOH
has established that has no basis in the statute, DOH will award Curaleaf the
growetr/processor permit it had no chance of winning on a competitive basis in Phase
I, the special dispensary permit that allows “up to six dispensaries (as opposed to
three under the regular licenses”), id., and CR status, simply because Curaleaf has a
relationship with a prestigious medical school/hospital.

52. The insertion of the ACRC into the CR approval process, the “pay to

play” concerns it raises that a CR applicant is able to secure DOH approval based on
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kickbacks to the ACRC instead of the merit of its ability to operate a medical
marijuana grower/processor and dispensary dedicated to clinical research, and the
resulting unlawful delegation to a private entity of DOH’s responsibility to issue
grower/processor and dispensary permits to the best candidates, are phenomena
created entirely by DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations, are not required by, and
indeed are inconsistent with the Act. '°
53. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations thus result in:
a. A violation of Article 2, Section I of the Pennsylvania
Constitution;
b. The inability of potential CRs other than the entity the ACRC
secretly anointed to even apply to DOH for CR status;
c. The absence from the CR permit issuance process of any
semblance of the competitive process that characterized the
Phase I and II application processes for the 50 dispensary permits
and 25 grower/processor permits authorized under Chapter 6 of

the Act;

= To the extent they are required by the Act, however, the Act likewise provides

for an unlawful delegation of government responsibility to a private entity.
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The fact that ACRCs have already entered contractual
relationships with entities that applied for Chapter 6 permits in
Phases I and II and were denied;

The likelihood that the most highly qualified grower/processor
and dispensary permit candidates will not be involved in Chapter
20 research, thereby frustrating the legislature’s desire to
promote “high quality research into the effectiveness and utility
of medical marijuana,” Section 102 (3)(iii); and,

DOH'’s well-founded concern, as evidenced by its regulations
designed to uncover kickbacks paid to ACRCs by prospective
CRs and to prohibit them, that factors other than a prospective

CR’s merit will influence an ACRC'’s choice of CR.

Chapter 20 research goals stymied

DOH'’s deviation from Chapter 20’s research goals in its Revised

Chapter 20 Regulations will bestow super-permits on CRs in exchange for what need

only be little or minimal contribution to much-needed research.

To obtain CR status, the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations require that,

with respect to the essential objective of furthering research studies, a CR applicant

provide nothing more than a “description of the research projects the applicant and
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the certified ACRC intend to conduct.” 28 Pa. Code § 1211.27(b)(7)(ii) (emphasis
added).

56. To retain CR status, the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations require only
similar promises of intent with respect to the essential objective of furthering
research: DOH “will not renew an approval” if it determines that “none of the
dispensary locations” [i.e., not a single one of the 6 permitted] “are participating in
an approved research project,” and the CR “does not intend to commence any
additional approved research projects within the first six months following the
approval of its application for renewal,” 28 Pa. Code § 1211.31(c).

57.  Stated differently, the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations, require the CRs
to dedicate only 8 percent of their business efforts to research.

COUNT I: DECLARATORY JUDGMENT

A. UNCONSTITUTIONAL DELEGATION
58. Paragraphs 1-57 are incorporated herein by reference as if they were
fully set forth.
59. DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations are unconstitutional insofar as
they delegate CR selection to private ACRCs, and the court should so declare.
60. Chapter 20 of the Act requires only that a CR have a research contract
with an ACRC and that said research contract is made only after DOH approves the

ACRC. 35 P.S. §§ 10231.2001-2001.1(a).
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61. The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations require, however, that even
though the ACRC is not permitted to have a contract with the CR it intends to
contract with until after the ACRC is approved by DOH, the ACRC must identify in
its application the CR candidate with which it intends to contract. 28 Pa. Code §
1211.25 (c)(3).

62.  The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations also require that as a condition of
a CR’s application to DOH, the CR applicant already have a contract with an ACRC,
28 Pa. Code § 1211.27 (b)(2) and (7).

63. The insertion of the ACRC into the CR approval process, the
sequencing and timing of application requirements that preordain the selection of
CRs by ACRCs and exclude all others, including grower/processors and dispensaries
that DOH already deemed qualified in a highly competitive Chapter 6 permit
application process, and the resulting “pay to play” concern that a CR applicant is
able to secure DOH approval based on kickbacks to the ACRC instead of the merit
of its ability to operate a medical marijuana grower/processor and dispensary
dedicated to clinical research, all are phenomena created entirely by DOH’s Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations, are inconsistent with the Act, and result in the abdication
by DOH of its responsibility to create a process in which CR status and the
grower/processor and dispensary permits that go with it is conferred on only the most

qualified candidates.

23



64. The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations therefore unconstitutionally
delegate to a private party, the ACRC, the crucial governmental function of choosing
medical marijuana organization grower/processor and dispensary permittees, in
violation of Article 2, Section 1 of the Pennsylvania Constitution.

65. The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations suffer from the same
Constitutional infirmity found by this court in Levine I.

B. INCONSISTENCY WITH CHAPTER 20°S RESEARCH GOALS

66. The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations are inconsistent with the Act and
thus violate the intent of the General Assembly where, rather than requiring the CR
to engage in a robust research program as required by the Act, they allow for only a
minimal commitment to research.

67. The Revised Chapter 20 Regulations suffer from the same failure to

track the Act’s intent to promote robust research found by this court in Levine 1.

COUNT II: PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION
68. Paragraphs 1-67 are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set
forth.
69. Petitioner is entitled to a preliminary injunction to enjoin enforcement
of DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations pending final resolution by this court that
the Revised Chapter 20 Regulations are unconstitutional; Petitioner has established

a likelihood of succeeding on the merits of its claim that the Regulations are invalid,
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its members will suffer immediate and irreparable harm if the ACRC/CR scheme
established in the Regulations moves forward pending resolution of this action, and
that the balancing of harms and the public interest weigh in Petitioner’s favor.

70.  Petitioner will file a separate application for preliminary injunctive

relief that addresses these criteria in detail.

COUNT III: PERMANENT INJUNCTION

71. Paragraphs 1-70 are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set
forth.

72. To establish a claim for a permanent injunction, Petitioner must
establish a clear right to relief and that an injunction is necessary to prevent a legal
wrong for which there is no adequate redress at law. Arsenal Coal Co. v. Dep’t of
Env. Res., 477 A.2d 1333 (1984).

73.  Petitioner has a clear right to relief in that: (a) DOH’s Revised Chapter
20 Regulations unconstitutionally delegate to a private party, the ACRC, the crucial
governmental function of choosing medical marijuana organization
grower/processor and dispensary permittees, in violation of Article 2, Section 1 of
the Pennsylvania Constitution; and (b) DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations that
purport to implement Chapter 20 of the Medical Marijuana Act as amended by Act
43 are inconsistent with the Act because the Act requires DOH to implement a

program that promotes “high quality research.” 35 P.S § 10231.102(3)(iii), but
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DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations require only a minimal commitment to
research by the CR.

74.  Petitioner and its members have no adequate remedy at law because if
the Regulations are permitted to go into effect, their only opportunity to challenge
their pervasive, unlawful and unconstitutional impact on Petitioner’s members will
be through appeals of individual DOH-issued CR permits on a CR-by-CR basis; as
that process unfolds, Petitioner’s members will have missed the opportunity to be
approved as a CR.

WHEREFORE, Petitioner respectfully requests that the court:

(a) As to Count I, declare that DOH’s Revised Chapter 20 Regulations as

they relate to CRs, and in particular 28 Pa. Code §§ 1211.27, 1211.28,

1211.30, 1211.31, 1211. 32, and 1211.34:

1. Are unconstitutional because they delegate power to private
ACRGC:s to select CRs, in violation of Article 2, Section 1 of the
Pennsylvania Constitution;

2. Are unlawful because they fail to track the General Assembly’s
intent in Chapter 20 to require CRs to engage in a robust research
program with ACRCs.

(b)  Asto CountlIl, preliminarily enjoin enforcement of the Revised Chapter

20 Regulations as they relate to CRs; and
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() As to Count IIl, permanently enjoin enforcement of the Revised
Chapter 20 Regulations as they relate to CRs.

Respectfully subnijtted,

Kevin J. MoKeon.D. No.[30428
Judith D. Cassel 1.D. No. 209393
Dennis A. Whitaker, 1.D. No. 53975
Micah R. Bucy, I.D. No. 320196
Hawke McKeon & Sniscak, LLP
100 North Tenth Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Telephone: 717-236-1300
Facsimile: 717-236-4841
kjmckeon @hmslegal.com
jdcassel @hmslegal.com

mrbucy @hmslegal.com

Counsel for Petitioner

DATED: November 27, 2018
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I certify that this filing complies with the provisions of the Public Access
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Respectfully submitted,

Kevin J. MeKeot, 1.D. No. 30428
Judith D. Cassel I.D. No. 209393
Dennis A. Whitaker, 1.D. No. 53975
Micah R. Bucy, 1.D. No. 320196
Hawke McKeon & Sniscak, LLP
100 North Tenth Street
Harrisburg, PA 17101
Telephone: 717-236-1300
Facsimile: 717-236-4841
kimckeon @hmslegal.com
jdcassel @hmslegal.com
dawhitaker@hmslegal.com
mrbucy@hmslegal.com

Counsel for Petitioner

DATED: November 27, 2018
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RULES AND REGULATIONS

Title 28—HEALTH AND SAFETY

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
[28 PA. CODE CH. 1211 ]

Medical Marijuana; Clinical Registrants and Academic Clinical Research
Centers; Temporary Regulations

[48 Pa.B. 5027
[Saturday, August 18, 2018]

The Department of Health (Department) is publishing temporary regulations in Chapter 1211
(relating to clinical registrants and academic clinical research centers—temporary regulations) to
read as set forth in Annex A. The temporary regulations are published under the Medical Marijuana
Act (act) (35 P.S. §§ 10231.101—10231.2110), as amended by the act of June 22, 2018 (P.L. 322,
No. 43). Section 2004 of the act (35 P.S. § 10231.2004) specifically allows the Department to
promulgate temporary regulations relating solely to sections 2000—2004 of the act (35 P.S. §§
10231.2000—10231.2004), regarding academic clinical research centers and clinical registrants,
that are not subject to sections 201—205 of the act of July 31, 1968 (P.L. 769, No. 240) (45 P-S. §§
1201—1205), known as the Commonwealth Documents Law, the Regulatory Review Act (71 P.S.
§§ 745.1—745.14) and sections 204(b) and 301(10) of the Commonwealth Attorneys Act (71 P.S.
§§ 732-204(b) and 732-301(10)).

Chapter 1211 pertains to clinical registrants and academic clinical research centers in this
Commonwealth who wish to participate in the Medical Marijuana Program. The temporary
regulations for clinical registrants and academic clinical research centers will expire on March 18,
2020.

Interested persons are invited to submit written comments, suggestions or objections regarding
the termporary regulations to John J. Collins, Office of Medical Marijuana, Department of Health,
Room 628, Health and Welfare Building, 625 Forster Street, Harrisburg, PA 17120, (717) 547-3047,
RA-DHMedMarijuana@pa.gov. Persons with a disability who wish to submit comments,
suggestions or objections regarding the temporary regulations or who require an alternative format
of the temporary regulations (for example, large print, audiotape or Braille) may do so by using the
previous contact information. Speech and/or hearing impaired persons may call the Pennsylvania
AT&T Relay Service at (800) 654-5984 (TDD users) or (800) 654-5988 (voice users).

RACHEL L. LEVINE, MD,
Secretary

(Editor's Note: Title 28 of the Pennsylvania Code is amended by adding temporary regulations in
§§ 1211.21—1211.37 to read as set forth in Annex A.)
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Fiscal Note: 10-217. No fiscal impact; (8) recommends adoption.

Annex A
TITLE 28. HEALTH AND SAFETY
PART IX. MEDICAL MARIJUANA

CHAPTER 1211. CLINICAL REGISTRANTS AND ACADEMIC CLINICAL
RESEARCH CENTERS—TEMPORARY REGULATIONS

Sec.

1211.21. Definitions.

1211.22. Clinical registrants generally.

1211.23. Limitation on permits.

1211.24. Capital requirements.

1211.25. Certifying ACRCs.

1211.26. Revocation of a certification of an ACRC.

1211.27. Application for approval of a clinical registrant.

1211.28. Request for conversion of an existing permit.

1211.29. Practices and procedures of research programs, projects or studies.
1211.30. Approval or denial of an application for approval of a clinical registrant.
1211.31. Renewal of approval of a clinical registrant.

1211.32. Revocation of approval of a clinical registrant.

1211.33. Dispensing and tracking medical marijuana products.

1211.34. Prohibition.

1211.35. Reporting requirements.

1211.36. Sale or exchange.

1211.37. Appeals.

§ 1211.21. Definitions.

The following words and terms, when used in this chapter, have the following meanings, unless
the context clearly indicates otherwise:

ACRC—An accredited medical school in this Commonwealth that operates or partners with an
acute care hospital licensed and operating in this Commonwealth.

Accredited medical school—An institution that is;
(i) Located in this Commonwealth.

(ii) Accredited by the Liaison Committee of Medical Education or the Commission on
Osteopathic College Accreditation.

Acute care hospital—A facility having an organized medical staff that provides equipment and
services primarily for inpatient medical care and other related services to persons who require
definitive diagnosis or treatment, or both, for injury, iliness, pregnancy or other disability and is
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licensed by the Department to operate as a hospital in this Commonwealth under the Health Care
Facilities Act (35 P.S. §§ 448.101—448.904b) and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

Applicant—A person who submits an application to the Department to become an approved
clinical registrant.

Approved clinical registrant—An entity that applied for and received the approval of the
Department to do all of the following:

(i) Hold a permit as both a grower/processor and a dispensary.
(ii) Enter into a research contract with a certified ACRC.

Certified ACRC—An ACRC that has applied for and has been certified by the Department to
enter into a research contract with an approved clinical registrant.

IRB—Institutional review board—A board, committee, RAC or group designated by a certified
ACRC that reviews and approves the anticipated scope of an approved clinical registrant's research
study involving human subjects under the criteria in 45 CFR 46.111 (relating to criteria for IRB
approval of research) and 21 CFR 56.111 (relating to criteria for [RB approval of research).

Institution of higher education—A community college, State-owned institution, State-related
institution, or private college or university approved by the Department of Education.

RAC—Research approval committee—A board, committee or group created or designated by a
certified ACRC to review and approve the scope and research protocols of a research program
proposed by an approved clinical registrant.

Research—Any systematic investigation, including research development, testing and evaluation,
designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge.

Research contract—A written agreement between an approved clinical registrant and a certified
ACRC that contains the responsibilities and duties of each party with respect to the research
program or research study that the approved clinical registrant and the certified ACRC intend to
conduct under this chapter and under which the certified ACRC will provide medical advice to the
approved clinical registrant regarding, among other areas, patient health and safety, medical
applications, and dispensing and management of controlled substances.

Research program—Research on the therapeutic or palliative efficacy of medical marijuana
limited to the serious medical conditions defined by the act and this part.

Research project or study—Any other research on medical marijuana or its effectiveness in
treating a medical or psychological condition.

Research protocol—A written procedure for conducting a research program or research study that
includes all of the following information:

(i) With respect to the investigator:

(A) Name and address.

(B) Institutional affiliation.

(C) Qualifications, including a curriculum vitae and list of publications, if any.

(ii) With respect to the research program or research study:
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(A) Title of the research program or research study.

(B) Statement of the purpose.
(C) Type of medical marijuana product involved and the amount needed.

(D) Description of the research to be conducted, including the number and type of medical
marijuana product, the dosage, the route and method of administration, and the duration of the
research program or research study.

(E) The locations of the dispensaries that will be participating in the research program or
research study.

§ 1211.22. Clinical registrants generally.

(a) The qualifications that a clinical registrant shall meet to be approved by the Department are
continuing qualifications.

(b) An applicant that has already been issued a grower/processor permit or a dispensary permit
by the Department under sections 601—616 of the act (35 P.S. §§ 10231.601—10231.616) who
wishes to become an approved clinical registrant shall:

(1) Submit a request to the Department under § 1211.28 (relating to request for conversion of an
existing permit) with the application for approval of a clinical registrant.

(2) Not be required to apply for, or be eligible to receive, an additional grower/processor permit
or dispensary permit under the act, this chapter, Chapter 1141, Chapter 1151 or Chapter 1161, as
applicable.

(c) The Department will not approve more than eight clinical registrants.

(d) An approved clinical registrant may not dispense or offer to dispense, as a clinical registrant,
any medical marijuana products at the clinical registrant dispensary location until:

(1) The Department has determined that an approved clinical registrant is ready, willing and able
to operate as a grower/processor and a dispensary.

(2) The approved clinical registrant demonstrates to the satisfaction of the Department that it will
be able to begin an approved research program or research study within 6 months following the date
the Department determines the approved clinical registrant's dispensary to be operational.

(e) An approved clinical registrant may dispense medical marijuana products to a patient or
caregiver who presents a valid identification card to an employee who is authorized to dispense
medical marijuana products at a dispensary location operated by an approved clinical registrant
under this chapter regardless of whether the patient is a participant in a research study.

§ 1211.23. Limitation on permits.

(a) An approved clinical registrant may not hold more than one grower/processor permit and one
dispensary permit.

(b) A dispensary permit held by an approved clinical registrant for use under this chapter may be
used to dispense medical marijuana products at no more than six separate locations as approved by
the Department, each of which shall be dispensing medical marijuana for the purpose of conducting
research.
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(¢) An approved clinical registrant may not locate more than three of its approved dispensaries in
the same medical marijuana region or in the same county.

§ 1211.24. Capital requirements.

An applicant shall provide all of the following information with its application under § 1211.27
(relating to application for approval of a clinical registrant):

(1) An affidavit, on a form prescribed by the Department, stating that the applicant has at least
$15 million in capital, which must include evidence that the applicant meets the capital
requirements of a medical marijuana organization under § 1141.30 (relating to capital
requirements).

(2) A release sufficient to obtain information from a state governmental agency, financial
institutions, an employer or any other person to verify the requirements of paragraph (1). Failure to
provide a release will result in the rejection of the application for approval of a clinical registrant.

§ 1211.25. Certifying ACRCs.

(a) The qualifications that an ACRC shall meet to be approved by the Department are continuing
qualifications.

(b) An accredited medical school may file an application with the Department to be approved as
a certified ACRC using a form prescribed by the Department. The Department will publish a notice
in the Pennsylvania Bulletin announcing the availability of the application and the time period
during which the Department will accept applications.

(c) An application submitted under subsection (b) must include all of the following information:

(1) The legal name, address and telephone number of the accredited medical school and the
name, telephone number and professional e-mail address of an individual at the accredited medical
school who will be the primary contact for the Department during the Department's review of the
application.

(2) The legal name, address and telephone number of the acute care hospital that is operated by
or partnered with the accredited medical school and the name, telephone number and professional e-
mail address of an individual at the accredited medical school who will be the primary contact for
the Department during the Department's review of the application.

(3) An affidavit, on a form prescribed by the Department, disclosing any payments to the
accredited medical school or any of its affiliates made by a person with whom the accredited
medical school intends to enter into a research contract for purposes of operating as an approved
clinical registrant or by any principal or financial backer of the person, up to and including the date
of the submission of the application. The affidavit must include the amount and purpose of each
payment made.

(4) A statement that the accredited medical school is currently accredited by the Liaison
Committee of Medical Education or the Commission on Osteopathic College Accreditation.

(5) A statement that the acute care hospital designated by the accredited medical school under
paragraph (2) holds a valid license from the Department.

(6) The State and Federal tax identification numbers of the accredited medical school.
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(7) A statement that a false statement made by the accredited medical school submitting the
application is punishable under the applicable provisions of 18 Pa.C.S. Chapter 49 (relating to
falsification and intimidation).

(8) Any other information deemed necessary by the Department.

(d) The Department will publish a list containing the name and address of each certified ACRC
on its publicly-accessible web site and in the Pennsylvania Bulletin.

§ 1211.26. Revocation of a certification of an ACRC.,

(a) The certification of an ACRC will be revoked by the Department upon the occurrence of any
of the following:

(1) The ACRC is no longer accredited by the Liaison Committee of Medical Education or the
Commission on Osteopathic College Accreditation, as applicable.

(2) The ACRC no longer operates or is partnered with the acute care hospital listed in its
application for certification.

(3) The ACRC is no longer located in this Commonwealth.

(b) If the Department intends to revoke the certification of an ACRC under this section, the
Department will provide written notice of its intention to the ACRC. Upon receipt of a notice under
this subsection, the ACRC shall have 90 days from the date of the notice to provide the Department
with evidence satisfactory to the Department that it has received reaccreditation by the Liaison
Committee of Medical Education or the Commission on Osteopathic College Accreditation, as
applicable, that it operates or is partnered with another acute care hospital or that it has relocated
within this Commonwealth. If the ACRC does not comply with this subsection within 90 days from
the date of the notice, the Department may revoke the certification of the ACRC,

§ 1211.27. Application for approval of a clinical registrant.

(a) An applicant shall file an application for approval of a clinical registrant with the Department
on a form prescribed by the Department. The Department will publish a notice in the Pennsylvania
Bulletin announcing the availability of applications and the time period during which the
Department will accept applications.

(b} An application for approval of a clinical registrant submitted under this section must include
all of the following information:

(1) The legal name, address and telephone number of the applicant and the name, telephone
number and professional e-mail address of an individual who will be the primary contact for the
Department during the Department's review of the application.

(2) The name of the certified ACRC under § 1211.25 (relating to certifying ACRCs).
(3) The applicant's State and Federal tax identification numbers.

(4) An affidavit, on a form prescribed by the Department, disclosing any payments made by the
applicant, a principal or financial backer of the applicant to a certified ACRC or any affiliates of a
certified ACRC, up to and including the date of the submission of the application. The affidavit
must include the amount and purpose of each payment made.
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(5) The name of an institution of higher education, if any, that will be participating in an
approved research program or research study.

(6) An affidavit and release under § 1211.24 (relating to capital requirements).

(7) Evidence that the applicant is responsible and capable of successfully operating as an
approved clinical registrant, including all of the following:

(i) A copy of the research contract between the applicant and the certified ACRC.

(ii) A description of the research program or research study the applicant and the certified ACRC
intend to conduct.

(iii} A statement that the applicant may not engage in the business of selling, dispensing or
offering to dispense medical marijuana products at an applicant's dispensary as a clinical registrant
until the clinical registrant dispensary is ready, willing and able to dispense medical marijuana
products.

(8) Except as provided in § 1211.28 (relating to request for conversion of an existing permit), an
application for a grower/processor permit under Chapters 1141 and 1151 (relating to general
provisions—temporary regulations; and growers/processors—temporary regulations).

{9) Except as provided in § 1211.28, an application for a dispensary permit under Chapter 1141
and Chapter 1161 (relating to dispensaries—temporary regulations).

(10) A statement that a false statement made by the applicant is punishable under the applicable
provisions of 18 Pa.C.S. Chapter 49 (relating to falsification and intimidation).

(11) Any other information deemed necessary by the Department.

(c) An applicant may only include one certified ACRC in its application for approval of a clinical
registrant.

(d) The following documents provided to the Department under this chapter are confidential and
not subject to disclosure under the Right-to-Know Law (65 P.S. §§ 67.101—67.3104):

(1) A research contract.
(2) A description of a research program or research study.
(3) A certified ACRC's intellectual property.

(4) An approved clinical registrant's intellectual property.

§ 1211.28. Request for conversion of an existing permit.

(a) An applicant holding a grower/processor permit or a dispensary permit, or both, under
sections 601—616 of the act (35 P.S. §§ 10231.601—10231.616), shall submit a request for
conversion of an existing permit under this section on a form prescribed by the Department when
submitting an application for approval of a clinical registrant under § 1211.27 (relating to
application for approval of a clinical registrant).

(b) Upon approval of a clinical registrant under subsection (a), the clinical registrant shall
surrender its grower/processor permit or dispensary permit, or both, previously issued under
sections 601—616 of the act.
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(c) A grower/processor permit or dispensary permit, or both, surrendered under subsection (b}
will increase the number of grower/processor permits or dispensary permits, as applicable, available
to other persons applying for permits under sections 601-—616 of the act, Chapter 1141 (relating to
general provisions—temporary regulations) and Chapter 1151 or Chapter 1161 (relating to
growers/processors—temporary regulations; and dispensaries—temporary regulations), as
applicable.

(d} An applicant may include additional dispensary locations in its request for conversion of an
existing permit or may request additional dispensary locations at a later date under § 1161.40
(relating to application for additional dispensary locations).

§ 1211.29. Practices and procedures of research programs, projects or studies.

(a) Medical marijuana dispensed as part of a research program shall be dispensed only in a form
permitted by the act or this part and only from a dispensary to a patient or to a caregiver.

(b) Marijuana dispensed under a research project or study may be dispensed, in any form deemed
medically safe by an IRB, from a clinical registrant dispensary directly to an ACRC.

(¢) A RAC or IRB shall adopt research procedures and shall review and approve each research
program in accordance with the RAC or IRB established practices and procedures.

{d) An IRB shall review each proposed research project or study in accordance with the IRB's
practices, procedures and protocols.

(e) A RAC or IRB shall, at a minimum, ensure that each research program, project or study
addresses all of the following:

(1) Protecting the rights and welfare of patients involved in research programs conducted under
this chapter.

(2) Minimizing the risk to patients by using procedures that are consistent with sound research
design and that do not unnecessarily expose patients to risk being performed on subjects for
diagnosis or treatment purposes.

(3) Determining that the risks to patients involved in research programs are reasonable in relation
to the anticipated benefits (if any) to the patients, and the importance of the knowledge that may be
expected to result from the research program.

(4) Guaranteeing that informed consent will be sought from each prospective patient or the
patient's legally authorized representative and is properly documented.

(5) Protecting the privacy of every patient.

§ 1211.30. Approval or denial of an application for approval of a clinical
registrant.

(a) An applicant shall be an approved clinical registrant upon the Department's approval of an
application under § 1211.27 (relating to application for approval of a clinical registrant).

(b) The Department may deny the application for approval of a clinical registrant if the payments

disclosed in the affidavit submitted under § 1211.27(b)(4) violate the prohibition in § 1211.34
(relating to prohibition).
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(c) Before the Department denies an application for approval of a clinical registrant under
subsection (b), the Department will provide the applicant with written notice specifying the
violation. The applicant may submit to the Department, within 10 days following receipt of the
Department's written notice, a supplemental affidavit indicating that the certified ACRC or its
affiliate has refunded to the applicant or a principal or financial backer of the applicant that portion
of payments in violation of § 1211.34. Upon receipt of the supplemental affidavit, the Department
may approve the application for approval of a clinical registrant. If the applicant fails to provide a
supplemental affidavit within 10 days of the Department's written notice, the Department will deny
the application for approval of a clinical registrant.

(d) An approved clinical registrant shall have the same rights and obligations as a medical
marijuana organization that holds a grower/processor permit or a dispensary permit under sections
601—616 of the act (35 P.S. §§ 10231.601—10231.616) and Chapters 1141, 1151 and 1161
(relating to general provisions—temporary regulations; growers/processors—temporary regulations;
and dispensaries—temporary regulations), as applicable, subject to any modifications or limitations
in sections 2001—2003 of the act (35 P.S. §§ 10231.2001—10231.2003) and this chapter.

(e} A grower/processor permit and a dispensary permit issued to an approved clinical registrant
will expire upon the nonrenewal, revocation or suspension by the Department of the approved
clinical registrant's approval.

§ 1211.31. Renewal of approval of a clinical registrant.

(a) The term of an approval of a clinical registrant will coincide with the term of the clinical
registrant's grower/processor permit and dispensary permit.

(b) An approved clinical registrant shall renew its approval as part of the renewal for a
grower/processor permit and a dispensary permit under § 1141.36 (relating to permit renewal
applications). The renewal application must be on a form prescribed by the Department and include
all of the following:

(1) A copy of the research contract.

(2) A list of the approved research programs or research studies that are continuing or, if any of
them are concluded, the dates they were concluded.

(3) A report of the current status of active research programs or research studies being conducted
under the research contract, including preliminary findings, if applicable, and any expectations and
projections the approved clinical registrant and the certified ACRC have for future research
programs or research studies over the course of the 2 years following the date of submission of the
report.

(4) A description of proposed research programs or research studies covered by the research
contract that the approved clinical registrant intends to conduct within the next year following
submission of the renewal application including evidence of IRB approval for each research
program or research study.

(5) A statement that a false statement made by the approved clinical registrant or the certified
ACRC is punishable under the applicable provisions of 18 Pa.C.S. Chapter 49 (relating to
falsification and intimidation).

(6) Any other information deemed necessary by the Department.

(c) The Department will not renew an approval for a clinical registrant under this section if the
Department determines that none of the dispensary locations under the dispensary permit held by
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the approved clinical registrant are participating in an approved research program or research study
and the approved clinical registrant does not intend to begin any additional approved research
programs or research studies within the first 6 months following the approval of its application for
renewal.

§ 1211.32. Revocation of approval of a clinical registrant.

(a) The approval of a clinical registrant will be revoked immediately by the Department upon the
occurrence of any of the following:

(1) The Department revokes, suspends or does not renew the grower/processor permit or
dispensary permit held by the approved clinical registrant.

(2) Subject to subsection (b), the Department revokes the certification of the ACRC listed in the
clinical registrant's application under § 1211.27 (relating to application for approval of a clinical
registrant).

(3) The research contract between the approved clinical registrant and the certified ACRC
expires without being renewed or is terminated by either party.

(b) If the Department intends to revoke the certification of the ACRC under subsection (a)(2), the
Department will provide written notice of its intention to the approved clinical registrant. Upon
receipt of a notice under this subsection, the approved clinical registrant shall have 90 days from the
date of the notice to contract with another certified ACRC that is not already a party to a research
contract with another approved clinical registrant and to provide the Department with all relevant
information relating to the certified ACRC. If the approved clinical registrant does not comply with
this subsection within 90 days from the date of the notice, the Department may revoke the clinical
registrant's approval.

§ 1211.33. Dispensing and tracking medical marijuana products.

In addition to the information to be entered in the electronic tracking system under § 1161.39
(relating to electronic tracking system) with respect to medical marijuana products dispensed to all
patients and caregivers, the dispensary of an approved clinical registrant shall enter information into
the electronic tracking system as required by the Department that identifies patients that are enrolled
in an approved research program or research study.

§ 1211.34. Prohibition.

Except for reasonable remuneration specifically in a research contract for the services to be
performed or costs to be incurred by a certified ACRC, a certified ACRC may not solicit or accept
anything of value from an approved clinical registrant or a principal or financial backer of an
approved clinical registrant. Reasonable remuneration may include up-front deposits or other
payments to a certified ACRC under a research contract to defray start-up and ongoing costs of the
certified ACRC in connection with the establishment of the contractual relationship in the research
contract. This section does not apply to charitable contributions that are part of a history of giving to
a certified ACRC established 1 year or more prior to the effective date of the act.

§ 1211.35. Reporting requirements.

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b), an approved clinical registrant shall provide a written
report of the findings of its research program or research study to the Department within 365 days of
the completion of an approved research program or research study.
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(b) In the event the approved clinical registrant or its certified ACRC intends to submit a
manuscript of the results of an approved research program or research study to a peer-reviewed
medical journal for publication, the written report required under subsection (a} shall be provided to
the Department within 30 days following publication.

(c) The Department may post the findings received under this section on its publicly-accessible
web site and share them with other approved clinical registrants, certified ACRCs or any other
person it determines would benefit from the findings.

§ 1211.36. Sale or exchange.

(a) The grower/processor of an approved clinical registrant may sell or exchange the following
items to another grower/processor:

(1) Seeds.

(2) Immature medical marijuana plants.
(3) Medical marijuana plants.

(4) Medical marijuana products.

(b) The grower/processor of an approved clinical registrant may only sell its medical marijuana
products to either its own approved dispensaries or any other approved dispensaries of an approved
clinical registrant.

(c) Notwithstanding subsection (b), an approved clinical registrant may petition the Department,
on a form prescribed by the Department, to sell its medical marijuana products to a dispensary
holding a permit under sections 601—616 of the act (35 P.S. §§ 10231.601—10231.616).

(d) A petition filed under subsection (¢} must include either the report or manuscript required

under § 1211.35 (relating to reporting requirements). If a clinical registrant fails to provide the
report or manuscript required under § 1211.35, the petition will be denied.

§ 1211.37. Appeals.
Chapter 5 of 2 Pa.C.S. (relating to practice and procedure) applies to actions of the Department
under this chapter constituting an adjudication as defined in 2 Pa.C.S. § 101 (relating to

definitions).
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IN THE COMMONWEALTH COURT OF PENNSYLVANIA

AES Compassionate Care, LLC, :
BAY, LLC, Chamounix Ventures, LLC, :
Cresco Yeltrah, LLC, :
GTI Pennsylvania, LL.C, GuadCo, LLC, :
Ilera Healthcare, LLC, Keystone Center :
of Integrative Wellness, LLC, :
Pennsylvania Medical Solutions, LLC,
Standard Farms, LLC, and
The Healing Center, LLC,
Petitioners
No. 233 M.D. 2018
V.
Heard: May 2, 2018
Rachel L. Levine, MD, Acting
Secretary, Pennsylvania
Department of Health,
Respondent

— e e ki

BEFORE: HONORABLE PATRICIA A. McCULLOUGH, Judge

OPINION NOT REPORTED

MEMORANDUM OPINION
BY JUDGE McCULLOUGH FILED: May 22, 2018

Before this Court is a request for a preliminary injunction regarding the
regulations enacted pursuant to the Medical Marijuana Act (Act)! to the extent they
might unlawfully permit the commercial sale of medical marijuana in contravention of
the Act. Specifically, an application for preliminary injunction was filed by AES
Compassionate Care, LLC, BAY, LLC, Chamounix Ventures, LLC, Cresco Yeltrah,
LLC, GTI Pennsylvania, LL.C, GuadCo, LLC, Ilera Healthcare, LLC, Keystone Center

! Act of April 17, 2016, P.L. 84, 35 P.S. §§10231.101-10231.2110.




of Integrative Wellness, LLC, Pennsylvania Medical Solutions, LL.C, Standard Farms,
LLC, and The Healing Center, LLC (coilectively, Petitioners) for special relief in the
nature of a preliminary injunction, seeking to enjoin Rachel L. Levine, MD, Acting
Secretary of Health, from applying the March 17, 2018 temporary regulations
(Regulations), 28 Pa, Code §§1210.21-1210.37, relating to implementation of the
academic research provisions of Chapter 20 of the Act, 35 P.S. §§10231.2001-
10231.2003.

The Medical Marijuana Act and the Chapter 20 Regulations
The Act, which took effect on May 17, 2016, establishes a framework for

the legalization of medical marijuana in the Commonwealth for certain medical

conditions. The expressed legislative intent of the Act is to

(1) Provide a program of access to medical marijuana which
balances the need of patients to have access to the latest
treatments with the need to promote patient safety.

(if) Provide a safe and effective method of delivery of
medical marijuana to patients.

(iii) Promote high quality research into the effectiveness
and utility of medical marijuana.

35 P.S. §10231.102 (emphasis added).

The Act identified the Pennsylvania Department of Health (Department)
as the Commonwealth agency responsible for administering the Act and authorized the
Department to promulgate regulations, including temporary regulations to carry out the
same. 35 P.S. §§10231.301, 1023.1107. In accord with this authority, the Department
promulgated the Regulations at issue here, which were published on March 17, 2018,

and made immediately effective.



A. Chapter 6 of the Act

Under section 603(d) of the Act, the Department established six medical
marijuana regions. 35 P.S. §10231.603(d).> Chapter 6 of the Act set forth two types
of entities authorized to receive a permit to operate as a medical marijuana organization
and grow, process, or dispense marijuana: grower/processors and dispensaries. 35 P.S.

§10231.601.> Section 616 of the Act set forth limitations on the number of permits the

2 This section states:

The [D]epartment shall establish a minimum of three regions within
this Commonwealth for the purpose of granting permits to

grower/processors and_dispensaries and enforcing this [Alct. The

[D]epartment shall approve permits for grower/processors and
dispensaries in a manner which will provide an adequate amount of
medical marijuana to patients and caregivers in all areas of this
Commeonwealth., The [D]epartment shall consider the following when
issuing a permit:

(1) Regional population.

(2) The number of patients suffering from serious
medical conditions.

(3) The types of serious medical conditions.

(4) Access to public transportation,

(5) Any other factor the [D]epartment deems relevant.
35P.S. §10231.603(d).

3 This section states:
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Department could initially issue. Specifically, the Department was authorized to issue
up to 25 grower/processor permits and 50 dispensary permits, the recipients of which
would be limited to dispensing at a maximum of three separate locations. 35 P.S.
§10231.616 (emphasis added).® Further, section 616 provided, “No more than five

The following entities shall be authorized to receive a permit to operate
as a medical marijuana organization to grow, process or dispense
medical marijuana:

(1) Grower/processors.
(2) Dispensaries.
35 P.S. §10231.601,
4 This section states:

The following limitations apply to approvel of permits for
grower/processors and dispensaries:

(1) The [D]epartment may not initially issue permits to
more than 25 growers/processors.

(2) The [D]epartment may not initially issue permits to
more than 50 dispensaries. Each dispensary may provide
medical marijuana at no more than three separate
locations.

(3) The [D]epartment may not issue more than five
individual dispensary permits to one person.

(4) The [Dlepartment may not issue more than one
individual grower/processor permit to one person.

(5) No more than five grower/processors may be issued
permits as  dispensaries, If the number of
growers/processors is increased under section 12020 no



growet/processors may be issued permits as dispensaries.” Id, These five entities are
referred to as “verticaily integrated” entities. See 35 P.S. §10231.1901.5

In January 2017, the Department announced it would issue permits in
phases. In Phase I, it would issue up to 12 grower/processor permits, with no more
than 2 permits in each of the 6 medical marijuana regions, and up to 27 dispensary
permits distributed throughout the 6 regions, apparently in accordance with population
concentration. Department of Health, Office of Medical Marijuana Bulletin No. 17-
21, at 73 (Issued Jan. 7, 2017).

From Februvary 20, 2017, through March 20, 2017, the Department
accepted applications for medical marijuana grower/processor permits and/or
dispensary permits. @ The Department received 457 applications: 177 for
growers/processors and 280 for dispensaries. On June 20, 2017, the Department issned

12 grower/processor permits and, on June 29, 2017, the Department issued 27
dispensary permits.

more than 20% of the total number of growers/processors
may also be issned permits as dispensaries,

(6) A dispensary may only obtain medical marijuana from
a grower/processor holding a valid permit under this
[Alet.

(7) A grower/processor may only provide medical
marijuana to & dispensary holding a valid permit under
this [A]ct.

35P.S. §10231.616.

5 Section 1141,21 of the Regulations defines “Health care medical marijuana organization” as
a “vertically integrated health system approved by the Department to dispense medical marijuana or
grow and process medical marijuana, or both, in accordance with a research study under sections
1901--1908 of the [A]ct.” 28 Pa. Code §1141.21.
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On March 24, 2018, the Department indicated that it would accept
applications for Phase II from April 5, 2018, to May 18, 2018, after which it would
grant the 13 remaining grower/processor permits and the 23 remaining dispensary
permits. Department of Health, Office of Medical Marijuana Bulletin No. 18-462, at
1782-83 (Issued Mar. 24, 2018).

B. Chapter 19 of the Act

The Act also designed two types of medical marijuana research programs.
The first, found in Chapter 19, directed the Department to develop a research program
in which “vertically integrated health systems,” as that term is defined in Chapter 19,5
approved by the Department, would be able to grow and process medical marijuana to
conduct research studies involving patients with serious medical conditions, upon
authorization by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the
United States Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA). See generally 35 P.S.
§§10231.1901-10231.1908. Howeyver, as Petitioners note in their petition for review,
this program has not come to fruition since marijuana remains an illegal Schedule 1
drug under the Federal Controlled Substances Act, and health systems, which rely
heavily on federal reimbursement funds via Medicaid and Medicare, are unwilling to
jeopardize that funding by engaging in federally prohibited activity, i.e., growing,
processing, and dispensing marijuana. (Petitioners’ Amended Petition for Review at
22-23.) Further, Petitioners note that, even if such health systems were willing to take
that risk, the FDA and DEA are unlikely to grant their approval. 7d.

6 Section 1901 of the Act defines “Vertically integrated health system” as “{a] health delivery
system licensed under the act of July 19, 1979 (P.L. 130, No. 48),U known as the Health Care Facilities
Act, in which the complete spectrum of care, including primary and specialty care, hospitalization
and pharmaceutical care, is provided within a single organization.” 35 P.S. §10231.1901.

6



C. Chapter 20 of the Act
The second research program contemplated by the Act is set forth in

Chapter 20. By way of background, the Act originated in the Pennsylvania Senate as
Senate Bill 3 of 2015; however, in March 2016, Chapter 20 of the Act, entitled
“Academic Clinical Research Centers,” was added by House amendment, Chapter 20
permits qualifying Academic Clinical Research Centers (ACRCS) to form partnerships
with Clinical Registrants (CRs) to conduct research studies. 35 P.S. §§10231.2001-
10231.2003. Secction 2001 of the Act defines an ACRC as “[a]n accredited medical
school within this Commonwealth that operates or partners with an acute care hospital

licensed within this Commonwealth,” and a CR as an entity that

(1) holds a permit as both a grower/processor and a
dispensary; and

(2) bas—gcontractal Telatiorship- with an JACRC]under
which the [ACRC] or its affiliate provides advice to the
entity, regarding, among other areas, patient health and
safety, medical applications and dispensing and management
of controlled substances.

35P.S. §10231.2001. Pertinent here, the aforementioned limitations of section 616 of
the Act, 35 P.S. §10231.616, which restricted the Department to initially issuing no
more than 25 grower/processor permits and 50 dispensary permits (5 of which could
be vertically-integrated), does not apply to this Chapter. Section 2002 of the Act,

entitled “Clinical registrants,” states,

Notwithstanding the limitations in section 616,10 the
[D]epartment may register up to eight [CRs]. Each entity
may provide medical marijuana at not more than six
separate locations. The total number of locations
authorized to dispense medical marijuana under this section

7 Throughout the proceedings, Petitioners refer to these entities as “super-permittees.”
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shall not exceed 48. The following apply with respect to this
category of [CR]:

(1) A [CR] must pay the fees and meet all other
requirements under this [A]ct for obtaining a
permit as a grower/processor and a dispensary,
except as provided under section 607(1)(vi) and

(2)(vi)0

(2) The [CR] must have a minimum of
$15,000,000 in capital. The [D]epartment shall
verify the capital requirement.

(3) The [CR] must comply with all other
requirements of this [A]ct regarding growing,
processing and dispensing medical marijuana.

35 P.S. §10231.2002 (emphasis added).
The final section of Chapter 20, section 2003, entitled “Research Study,”

states the following:

Notwithstanding any provision of this [A]ct to the contrary,
the [D]epartment may, upon application, approve the
dispensing of medical marijuana by a [CR] to the
[ACRC] for the purpose of conducting a research study.
The [Dl]epartment shall develop the application and
standards for approval of such dispensing by the [CR]. The
following apply to the research study:

(1) The [CR] shall disclose the following
information to the [D]epartment in its
application:

(i) The reason for the research
project, including the reason for
the trial.

(ii) The strain of medical
marijuana to be used and the
strength of the medical marijuana
to be used in the research study.

8




(iii) The anticipated duration of the
study.

(iv) Evidence of approval of the
trial by an accredited institutional
review board, including any other
required regulatory approvals.

(v) Other information required by
the [D]epartment, except that the
[D]epartment may not require
disclosure of any information that
would infringe upon the [ACRC]’s
exclusive right to intellectual
property or legal obligations for
patient confidentiality.

(2) The [ACRC] shall provide its findings to the
[D]epartment within 365 days of the conclusion of the

researchstudy orwithinr365daysof publicationof the——
results of the rescarch study in a peer-reviewed
medical journal, whichever is later.

(3) The [D]epartment shall allow the exchange of
medical marijuana seed between [CRs] for the conduct
of research.

35 P.S. §10231.2003 (emphasis added).

D. Chapter 20 Regulations

Pursuant to section 1107 of the Act,® on March 17, 2018, the Department
published Regulations promulgating Chapter 20 of the Act, which took effect
immediately. 28 Pa, Code §§1210.21-1210.37.

8 As noted previously, this section authorizes the Department to promulgate temporary
regulations, which would expire two years following their publication, in order to “facilitate prompt




The Regulations define an ACRC as “[a]n accredited medical school in
this Commonwealth that operates or partners with an acute care hospital licensed and
operating in this Commonwealth.” 28 Pa. Code §1210.21. In order to become a
certified ACRC, an entity must file an application that includes:

(1) The legal name, address and telephone number of the
accredited medical school and the name, telephone number
and professional e-mail address of an individual at the
accredited medical school who will be the primary contact
for the Department during the Department’s review of the
application,

(2) The legal name, address and telephone number of the
acute care hospital that is operated by or partnered with the
accredited medical school and the name, telephone number
and professional e-mail address of an individual at the
accredited medical school who will be the primary contact
for the Department during the Department’s review of the
application,

(3) An affidavit, on a form prescribed by the Department,
disclosing any payments to the accredited medical school or
any of its affiliates made by a person with whom the
accredited medical school intends to enter into a research
contract for purposes of operating as an approved [CR]
or by any principal or financial backer of the person, up to

implementation” of the Act. 35 P.S. §10231.1107(a). Further, the Regulations were not to be subject
to sections 201 to 205 of the Commonwealth Documents Law, Act of July 31, 1968, P.L. 769, as
amended, 45 P.S. §§1201-1205; the Regulatory Review Act, Act of June 25, 1982, P.L. 633, as
amended, 71 P.S. §745.1-745.15; or sections 204(b) and 301(10) of the Commonwealth Attorneys Act,
Act of October 15, 1980, P.L. 950, as amended, 71 P.S. §§732-204(b), 732-301(10); and 35 P.S.
§1107(a). The Department allowed a period of time for interested parties to submit written comments,
suggestions, or objections regarding the temporary regulations. Department of Health, Office of
Medical Marijuana Bulletin No. 10-201, at 7631 (Issued Dec. 10, 2016).
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and including the date of the submission of the application.
The affidavit must include the amount and purpose of each
payment made.

(4) A statement that the accredited medical school is
currently accredited by the Liaison Committee of Medical i
Education or the Commission on Osteopathic College :
Accreditation, f

(5) A statement that the acute care hospital designated by the
accredited medical school under paragraph (2) holds a valid
license from the Department,

—— it e

(6) The State and Federal tax identification numbers of the
accredited medical school.

o (7) A statement that a false statement made by the accredited

medical school submitting the application is punishable
under the applicable provisions of 18 Pa.C.S, Chapter 49
(relating to falsification and intimidation).

_n__I._n_u_nu

(8) Any other information deemed necessary by the
Department.

28 Pa. Code §1210.25(c) (emphasis added).
Further, the Regulations define “Approved clinical registrant” as

An entity that applied for and received the approval of the
Department to do all of the following:

(i) Hold a permit as both a grower/processor and
a dispensary !

(ii) Enter into a research contract with a certified
ACRC. i

11



28 Pa. Code §1210.21. Section 1210.27 of the Regulations lists the contents required
of a CR application:

(a) An applicant shall file an application for approval of a
[CR] with the Department on a form prescribed by the
Department. The Department will publish a notice in the
Pennsylvania Bulletin announcing the availability of
applications and the time period during which the
Department will accept applications.

(b) An application for approval of a [CR] submitted under
this section must include all of the following information:

(1) The legal name, address and telephone
number of the applicant and the name,
telephone number and professional e-mail
address of an individual who will be the primary
contact for the Department during the
Department’s review of the application.

(2) The name of the certified ACRC under §
1210.25 (relating to certifying ACRCs).

(3) The applicant’s State and Federal tax
identification numbers,

(4) An affidavit, on a form prescribed by the
Department, disclosing any payments made by
the applicant, a principal or financial backer of
the applicant to a certified ACRC or any
affiliates of a certified ACRC, up to and
including the date of the submission of the
application. The affidavit must include the
amount and purpose of each payment made,

(5) The name of an institution of higher
education, if any, that will be participating in an
approved research project.

(6) An affidav